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Independent auditor’s report to the members of: 
 

PERSATUAN PEMUDI ISLAM SINGAPURA 
[UEN. S64SS0011K] 
 
[Registered under the Societies Act, Chapter 311  
in the Republic of Singapore] 
 

 

 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PERSATUAN PEMUDI ISLAM SINGAPURA (the 

“Association”) and its subsidiary (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Association as at 31 March 2018, the 
consolidated statement of financial activities, consolidated statement of changes in funds and consolidated 
statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of financial activities of the Association for the 
financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial 

activities of the Association as at 31 March 2018 and their financial performance and their cash flow for the 

year ended are properly drawn up in accordance with the provision of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the 
“Societies Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the “Charities Act and 
Regulations”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”)  so as to present fairly, in all material 
respects, the state of affairs of the Group and the Association as at 31 March 2018, and the results, changes 
in funds and cash flows of the Group and the result of the Association for the financial year ended on that date.  
 
Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”).  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Position section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements and the ACRA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the Statement by 

Board of Management but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon which we 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the annual report, which is expected to be made 
available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of: 
 

PERSATUAN PEMUDI ISLAM SINGAPURA 
[UEN. S64SS0011K] 
 
[Registered under the Societies Act, Chapter 311  
in the Republic of Singapore] 
 

 

 

 
Other Information (Cont’d) 

 
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is material misstatement therein, we are required 
to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with 
SSAs. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of the Societies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Association or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.   
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of: 
 

PERSATUAN PEMUDI ISLAM SINGAPURA 
[UEN. S64SS0011K] 
 
[Registered under the Societies Act, Chapter 311  
in the Republic of Singapore] 
 

 

 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

  
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain 

solely responsible for our opinion.  
 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 
In our opinion, 

  
(a) the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Association have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Societies Regulations enacted under the Societies Act, the Charities 
Act and Regulations and by the subsidiary corporation incorporated in Singapore of which we are the 

auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act; and 
 

(b) the fund-raising appeals held during the financial year has been carried out in accordance with Regulation 
6 of the Societies Regulations issued under the Societies Act and proper accounts and other records have 
been kept of the fund-raising appeals. 

 

  



6 September 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2018 
 
   Group 

   2018  2017 
 Note  S$  S$ 
       
ASSETS      
      
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 5  14,497,574  13,195,491 
Fees receivable 6  62,837  46,685 
Other receivables 6  1,154,600  1,637,430 

   15,715,011  14,879,606 

      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 8  2,841,532  1,128,594 
Investment property 9  676,086  690,784 

   3,517,618  1,819,378 

      
Total assets   19,232,629  16,698,984 

      
      
LIABILITIES      
      
Current liabilities      
Other payables 10  1,511,864  1,710,131 
Income tax payable 11  806  10,300 

Total liabilities   1,512,670  1,720,431 

      
NET ASSETS   17,719,959  14,978,553 

      
      
FUNDS      
      
Unrestricted funds      
General fund 12  (605,385)  (675,023) 
      
Designated Funds      
- Childcare Fund 12  5,800,813  4,494,850 
- Designated Project Fund 12  358,293  360,882 
- Family Therapy Institute Fund 12  (294,395)  (142,268) 
- Student Care Centre Fund 12  (630,311)  (421,490) 
- Training and Consultancy Fund 12  (198,792)  (115,039) 

   4,430,223  3,501,912 

      
Restricted funds      
- As-Salaam Family Support Centre Fund 12  2,429,683  2,036,928 
- Capital Grant Fund 12  682,778  117,694 
- Care and Share Grant 12  358,762  499,635 
- Clients Assistance Fund 12  609,977  693,819 
- Family Services Centre Fund (East) 12  2,517,197  2,250,371 
- Family Services Centre Fund (West) 12  3,429,345  2,957,696 
- Inspirasi Fund 12  891,860  891,605 
- Oasis Fund 12  111,294  - 
- Vista Sakinah Fund 12  2,258,840  2,028,893 

   13,289,736  11,476,641 

      
TOTAL FUNDS   17,719,959  14,978,553 

  
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2018 
 
   Association 

   2018  2017 
 Note  S$  S$ 
       
ASSETS      
      
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 5  14,168,905  12,593,253 
Fees receivables 6  62,837  46,685 
Other receivables 6  1,200,783  1,967,357 

   15,432,525  14,607,295 

      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 8  2,835,797  1,124,699 
Investment property 9  676,086  690,784 
Investment in subsidiary 7  1,000  1,000 

   3,512,883  1,816,483 

      
Total assets   18,945,408  16,423,778 

      
LIABILITIES      
      
Current liabilities      
Other payables 10  1,470,280  1,677,086 

      
Total liabilities   1,470,280  1,677,086 

      
NET ASSETS   17,475,128  14,746,692 

      
      
FUNDS      
      
Unrestricted funds      
General fund 12  (605,385)  (675,023) 
      
Designated Funds      
- Childcare Fund 12  5,555,982  4,262,989 
- Project Fund 12  358,293  360,882 
- Family Therapy Institute Fund 12  (294,395)  (142,268) 
- Student Care Centre Fund 12  (630,311)  (421,490) 
- Training and Consultancy Fund 12  (198,792)  (115,039) 

   4,185,392  3,270,051 

      
Restricted funds      
- As-Salaam Family Support Centre Fund 12  2,429,683  2,036,928 
- Capital Grant Fund 12  682,778  117,694 
- Care and Share Grant 12  358,762  499,635 
- Clients Assistance Fund 12  609,977  693,819 
- Family Services Centre Fund (East) 12  2,517,197  2,250,371 
- Family Services Centre Fund (West) 12  3,429,345  2,957,696 
- Inspirasi Fund 12  891,860  891,605 
- Oasis Fund 12  111,294  - 
- Vista Sakinah Fund 12  2,258,840  2,028,893 

   13,289,736  11,476,641 

      
TOTAL FUNDS   17,475,128  14,746,692 

  
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2018 
 

  Group  

 Note 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

funds 
Total  
funds 

2018  S$ S$ S$ 
INCOME     

Voluntary Income     
- Donations  160,796 200,181 360,977 
- Grants and subsidies     

 Government funding  2,546,356 6,037,520 8,583,876 
 MMCDF funding  13,075 324,085 337,160 
 NCSS funding  - 1,571,587 1,571,587 
 Corporate funding  367,835 - 367,835 

  3,088,062 8,133,373 11,221,435 

     
Income from generating funds     
- Fund-raising project  143,665 - 143,665 

     
Income from charitable activities     
- Programme fees  548,577 143,470 692,047 
- School fees   5,067,970 - 5,067,970 

  5,616,547 143,470 5,760,017 

     
Other income     

- Membership fees  237 - 237 
- Management fees  1,290,821 - 1,290,821 
- Miscellaneous income  48,893 712 49,605 

  1,339,951 712 1,340,663 

     
TOTAL INCOME  10,188,225 8,277,555 18,465,780 

     

EXPENDITURE     
     
Cost of generating fund     
- Fund-raising expenses  70,069 - 70,069 

     

     
Cost of charitable activities     
- Allowance for impairment of receivables  10,319 - 10,319 

- Advertising  78,267 400 78,667 
- Bank charges  5,519 66 5,585 
- Board expenses  29,921 - 29,921 
- Computer expenses  7,760 28,763 36,523 

- Depreciation 8 427,987 102,347 530,334 
- Depreciation for investment property 9 14,698 - 14,698 
- Financial assistance and subsidies  2,545 298,956 301,501 
- Functions and meetings  115,952 17,271 133,223 
- Insurance  21,728 3,113 24,841 
- Maintenance fees – investment property  4,818 - 4,818 
- Membership fee  275 50 325 

- Miscellaneous  79,607 15,484 95,091 
- Printing, postage and stationery  68,770 32,722 101,492 
- Programme expenses  1,051,125 397,884 1,449,009 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2018 (CONT’D) 
 

  Group 

 Note 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

funds 
Total 
funds 

2018  S$ S$ S$ 
     

EXPENDITURE (CONT’D)     
     
Cost of charitable activities (Cont’d)     

- Refreshment  11,523 5,712 17,235 
- Rental of equipment  23,237 11,054 34,291 
- Rental of premises  281,411 56,213 337,624 
- Repairs and maintenance  166,408 112,447 278,855 

- Staff costs     
   CPF – employer’s contribution  715,514 462,456 1,177,970 

      Salaries and bonuses  5,712,293 3,420,775 9,133,068 
      Staff recruitment and training  130,406 80,430 210,836 
      Staff welfare  32,200 10,332 42,532 
- Telephone and facsimile  26,420 22,356 48,776 
- Transport and travelling expenses  71,353 29,006 100,359 

- Utilities  81,630 39,780 121,410 

  9,171,686 5,147,617 14,319,303 

     
Governance costs     

- Audit fee  32,851 4,463 37,314 
- Management fee  208,562 1,082,259 1,290,821 
- Property Tax  1,138 - 1,138 

  242,551 1,086,722 1,329,273 

     

     
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  9,484,306 6,234,339 15,718,645 

     
NET INCOME  703,919 2,043,216 2,747,135 
     

Less: Income tax expense  11 5,729 - 5,729 

     
NET INCOME AFTER TAX  698,190 2,043,216 2,741,406 
     
TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS 12 230,121 (230,121) 0 

     

TOTAL FUNDS BROUGHT FORWARD  3,501,912 11,476,641 14,978,553 

     
TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  4,430,223 13,289,736 17,719,959 

     
     

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

  



Persatuan Pemudi Islam Singapura 
and its subsidiary  
[UEN.S64SS0011K] 

 
Audited Financial Statements 

Financial Year Ended 31 March 2018 
  

 

Fiducia LLP, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore                       Page 11 of 53 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2017 
 

  Group 

 Note 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

funds 
Total  
funds 

2017  S$ S$ S$ 
INCOME     

Voluntary Income     
- Donations  214,982 323,786 538,768 
- Grants and subsidies     

 Government funding  2,037,514 5,538,123 7,575,637 
 MMCDF funding  16,900 588 17,488 
 NCSS funding  - 1,458,638 1,458,638 
 Corporate funding  324,489 - 324,489 

  2,593,885 7,321,135 9,915,020 

     
Income from generating funds     
- Fund-raising project  144,133 - 144,133 

     
Income from charitable activities     
- Programme fees  536,775 153,115 689,890 
- School fees   4,295,239 - 4,295,239 

  4,832,014 153,115 4,985,129 

     
Other income     

- Membership fees  911 - 911 
- Management fees  1,241,960 - 1,241,960 
- Miscellaneous income  43,914 19,513 63,427 

  1,286,785 19,513 1,306,298 

     
TOTAL INCOME  8,856,817 7,493,763 16,350,580 

     

EXPENDITURE     
     
Cost of generating fund     
- Fund-raising expenses  66,949 - 66,949 

     

     
Cost of charitable activities     
- Allowance for impairment of receivables  9,462 - 9,462 

- Advertising  33,447 1,377 34,824 
- Bank charges  4,167 75 4,242 
- Board expenses  15,331 - 15,331 
- Computer expenses  7,717 26,740 34,457 

- Depreciation 8 224,698 69,068 293,766 
- Depreciation for investment property 9 14,698 - 14,698 
- Financial assistance and subsidies  1,616 219,195 220,811 
- Functions and meetings  47,442 27,301 74,743 
- Insurance  8,589 3,462 12,051 
- Impairment of goodwill  73,297 - 73,297 
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment  

 

- 2,107 2,107 
- Maintenance fees – investment property  4,686 - 4,686 
- Membership fee  275 - 275 
- Miscellaneous  42,728 13,114 55,842 

- Printing, postage and stationery  55,595 28,258 83,853 
- Programme expenses  829,169 409,944 1,239,113 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2017 (CONT’D) 
 

  Group 

 Note 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

funds 
Total 
funds 

2017  S$ S$ S$ 
     

EXPENDITURE (CONT’D)     
     
Cost of charitable activities (Cont’d)     

- Refreshment  5,715 4,649 10,364 
- Rental of equipment  18,196 10,718 28,914 
- Rental of premises  237,069 56,213 293,282 
- Repairs and maintenance  134,931 113,244 248,175 

- Staff costs     
   CPF – employer’s contribution  652,987 415,546 1,068,533 

      Salaries and bonuses  4,852,374 3,165,277 8,017,651 
      Staff recruitment and training  57,276 88,127 145,403 
      Staff welfare  24,426 8,946 33,372 
- Telephone and facsimile  22,590 20,451 43,041 
- Transport and travelling expenses  41,253 28,134 69,387 

- Utilities  71,780 39,066 110,846 

  7,491,514 4,751,012 12,242,526 

     
Governance costs     

- Audit fee  20,085 9,475 29,560 
- Management fee  238,216 1,003,744 1,241,960 
- Property Tax  1,260 - 1,260 

  259,561 1,013,219 1,272,780 

     

     
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  7,818,024 5,764,231 13,582,255 

     
NET INCOME  1,038,793 1,729,532 2,768,325 
     

Less: Income tax expense  11 10,300 - 10,300 

     
NET INCOME AFTER TAX  1,028,493 1,729,532 2,758,025 
     
TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS 12 246,435 (246,435) 0 

     

TOTAL FUNDS BROUGHT FORWARD  2,226,984 9,993,544 12,220,528 

     
TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  3,501,912 11,476,641 14,978,553 

     
     

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 -  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 
 

  ASSOCIATION 

  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 

    DESIGNATED FUNDS   

  

General  
Fund  

Childcare 
Fund  

Designated 
Project Fund  

Family 
Therapy 
Institute 

Fund  
Student Care 
Centre Fund  

Training and 
Consultancy 

Fund  

Total 
unrestricted 

funds 

  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
2018               
INCOME               
Voluntary Income               
- Donations  126,145  80  -  50  26,012  8,509  160,796 
- Grants and subsidies               

 Government funding  248,059  2,254,635  -  12,309  25,590  3,670  2,544,263 
 MMCDF funding  -  -  -  5,625  2,200  5,250  13,075 
 Corporate funding  27,000  83,510  -  247,325  10,000  -  367,835 

  401,204  2,338,225  -  265,309  63,802  17,429  3,085,969 

               
Income from generating funds               
- Fund-raising project  143,555  -  -  -  110  -  143,665 

               
Income from charitable activities               
- Programme fees  1,764  368,505  -  79,779  2,950  95,579  548,577 
- School fees  -  4,614,735  -  -  453,235  -  5,067,970 

  1,764  4,983,240  -  79,779  456,185  95,579  5,616,547 

               
Other income               

- Membership fees  237  -  -  -  -  -  237 
- Management fees  1,290,821  -  -  -  -  -  1,290,821 
- Miscellaneous income  34,191  16,414  26  5  4,726  218  55,580 

  1,325,249  16,414  26  5  4,726  218  1,346,638 

               
TOTAL INCOME  1,871,772  7,337,879  26  345,093  524,823  113,226  10,192,819 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 -  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 

    DESIGNATED FUNDS   

 Note 
General  

Fund  
Childcare 

Fund  
Designated 

Project Fund  

Family 
Therapy 
Institute 

Fund  
Student Care 
Centre Fund  

Training and 
Consultancy 

Fund  

Total 
unrestricted 

funds 

2018  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE               
               
Cost of generating funds               
- Fund-raising expenses  70,069  -  -  -  -  -  70,069 

               
Cost of charitable activities               
- Allowance for impairment of receivables  -  -  -  -  10,319  -  10,319 
- Advertising  12,389  65,327  -  201  140  -  78,057 
- Bank charges  3,624  1,487  70  30  1  -  5,212 
- Board expenses  29,921  -  -  -  -  -  29,921 
- Computer expenses  7,760  -  -  -  -  -  7,760 
- Depreciation 8 131,904  282,210  -  6,275  4,862  365  425,616 
- Depreciation for investment property 9 14,698  -  -  -  -  -  14,698 
- Financial assistance/subsidies  -  -  2,545  -  -  -  2,545 
- Functions and meetings  101,928  8,924  -  1,301  2,202  544  114,899 
- Insurance  3,953  15,938  -  171  1,622  44  21,728 
- Maintenance fees – investment 

property 
 

4,818  -  - 
 

- 
 

-  -  4,818 
- Membership fee  275  -  -  -  -  -  275 
- Miscellaneous  2,759  72,836  -  653  1,109  -  77,357 
- Printing, postage and stationeries  21,240  36,501  -  2,480  2,614  4,699  67,534 
- Management fee charged by subsidiary   -  422,875  -  -  -  -  422,875 
- Programme expenses  60,292  776,555  -  25,031  57,558  67,967  987,403 
- Refreshment  5,348  4,091  -  193  185  202  10,019 
- Rental of equipment  2,603  15,209  -  1,206  3,385  631  23,034 
- Rental of premises  14,060  231,717  -  -  35,088  -  280,865 
- Repairs and maintenance  29,299  121,663  -  1,273  12,114  1,611  165,960 
-  Staff costs               
    CPF – employer’s contribution  155,370  401,105  -  46,726  55,668  14,923  673,792 
    Salaries and bonuses  1,221,052  3,331,104  -  360,464  419,207  110,830  5,442,657 
    Staff recruitment and training  24,967  87,025  -  9,186  3,476  709  125,363 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 -  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 

  ASSOCIATION 

  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 

    DESIGNATED FUNDS   

  
General 

Fund  
Childcare 

Fund  
Designated 

Project Fund  

Family 
Therapy 
Institute 

Fund  
Student Care 
Centre Fund  

Training and 
Consultancy 

Fund  

Total 
unrestricted 

funds 

2018  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE (CONT’D)               
               
Cost of charitable activities (Cont’d)               
- Staff welfare  3,590  23,618  -  1,513  767  155  29,643 
- Telephone and facsimile  4,553  15,558  -  1,375  3,681  1,208  26,375 
- Transport and travelling expenses  11,774  43,208  -  9,892  2,225  1,070  68,169 
- Utilities  237  59,175  -  8,490  13,714  -  81,616 

  1,868,414  6,016,126  2,615  476,460  629,937  204,958  9,198,510 

               
               
Governance costs               
- Audit fee  42  28,760  -  148  454  (84)  29,320 
- Management fee  -  -  -  70,612  111,928  26,022  208,562 
- Property tax  1,138  -  -  -  -  -  1,138 

  1,180  28,760  -  70,760  112,382  25,938  239,020 

               
               
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  1,939,663  6,044,886  2,615  547,220  742,319  230,896  9,507,599 

               
NET (EXPENDITURE)/INCOME  (67,891)  1,292,993  (2,589)  (202,127)  (217,496)  (117,670)  685,220 

               
TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS  137,529  -  -  50,000  8,675  33,917  230,121 
               
TOTAL FUNDS BROUGHT FORWARD   (675,023)  4,262,989  360,882  (142,268)  (421,490)  (115,039)  3,270,051 
               

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  (605,385)  5,555,982  358,293  (294,395)  (630,311)  (198,792)  4,185,392 

               
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 – RESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  RESTRICTED FUNDS 

  

As- 
Salaam 
Family 

Support 
Centre 
Fund  

Capital 
Grant 
Fund  

Care 
and 

Share 
Grant  

Clients 
Assistance 

Fund  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(East)  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(West)  
Inspirasi 

Fund 

  
 
 
 

Oasis 
fund  

Vista 
Sakinah 

Fund  

Total 
restricted 

Funds 

2018  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
INCOME                     
Voluntary Income                     
- Donations  4,592  -  -  180,010  10,553  3,018  -  -  2,008  200,181 
- Grants and subsidies                     

 Government 
funding 

 
1,012,921  636,612  117,729  -  1,213,370 

 
1,321,905  294,796 

  
557,226 

 
882,961  6,037,520 

 MMCDF funding  -  -  -  -  -  -  8,278  -  315,807  324,085 
 NCSS funding                     
- Community chest   52,243  -  -  -  62,004  67,038  -  -  -  181,285 
- Other funds  262,054  -  -  -  328,472  359,131  232,617  -  208,028  1,390,302 

  1,331,810  636,612  117,729  180,010  1,614,399  1,751,092  535,691  557,226  1,408,804  8,133,373 

                     
Income from charitable 
activities 

 
         

 
  

    
  

 

- Programme fees  13,872  -  -  -  1,790  520  18,059  -  109,229  143,470 

                     
Other income                     
- Miscellaneous income  23  -  -  -  526  142  9  -  12  712 

                     
                     
                     
TOTAL INCOME  1,345,705  636,612  117,729  180,010  1,616,715  1,751,754  553,759  557,226  1,518,045  8,277,555 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 – RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  RESTRICTED FUNDS 

 Note 

As- 
Salaam 
Family 

Support 
Centre 
Fund  

Capital 
Grant 
Fund  

Care 
and 

Share 
Grant  

Clients 
Assistance 

Fund  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(East)  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(West) 

 

Inspirasi 
Fund  

Oasis 
fund  

Vista 
Sakinah 

Fund  

Total 
restricted 

funds 

2018  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE                     

Cost of charitable 
activities 

 

         

 

 

  

      

- Advertising  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  300  100  400 

- Bank charges  -  -  -  -  30  31  -  -  5  66 

- Computer expenses  -  -  28,694  -  -  -  -  -  69  28,763 

- Depreciation 8 4,761  71,528  -  -  4,445  1,244  7,624  205  12,540  102,347 

- Financial assistance 
and subsidies 

 

150  -  -  263,852  30,949 

 

3,390 

  
615  -  -  298,956 

- Functions and 
meetings 

 

2,835  -  -  -  2,343 

 

5,191 

  
1,254  1,669  3,979  17,271 

- Insurance  554  -  -  -  708  765  389  -  697  3,113 

- Membership fee  -  -  -  -  50  -  -      50 

- Miscellaneous   3,042  -  -  -  2,570  2,102  1,490  5,652  628  15,484 

- Printing, postage and 
stationery 

 

3,455  - 

 

- 

 

-  12,054  4,175 

  
2,970  2,053  8,015  32,722 

- Programme expenses  48,877  -  -  -  84,018  45,509  58,168  33,977  127,335  397,884 

- Refreshment  538  -  -  -  2,250  451  594  641  1,238  5,712 

- Rental of equipment  1,940  -  -  -  1,940  2,502  1,940  792  1,940  11,054 

- Rental of premises  7,319  -  -  -  15,010  7,524  9,039  -  17,321  56,213 

- Repairs and 
maintenance 

 

15,109  - 

 

- 

 

-  26,424  31,926 

  
14,782  4,820  19,386  112,447 

- Staff cost                     

     CPF – employer’s     
contribution 

 

73,051  - 

 

- 

 

-  109,537 

 

106,754 

  
39,650  36,490  96,974  462,456 

     Salaries and 
bonuses 

 

583,276  - 

 

- 

 

-  777,860  792,804 

  
287,397  239,474  739,964  3,420,775 

     Staff recruitment 
and training 

 

20,817  - 

 

- 

 

-  17,352  21,413 

  
5,295  839  14,714  80,430 

     Staff welfare  2,016  -  -  -  2,849  2,340  1,765  561  801  10,332 

- Telephone and 
facsimile 

 

3,633  - 

 

- 

 

-  5,070  4,969 

  
2,531  2,231  3,922  22,356 



Persatuan Pemudi Islam Singapura 
and its subsidiary  
[UEN.S64SS0011K] 

 
Audited Financial Statements 

Financial Year Ended 31 March 2018 
  

 

Fiducia LLP, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore                       Page 18 of 53 

 
ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 – RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  RESTRICTED FUNDS 

  

As- 
Salaam 
Family 

Support 
Centre 
Fund  

Capital 
Grant 
Fund  

Care and 
Share 
Grant  

Clients 
Assistance 

Fund  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(East)  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(West) 

 

Inspirasi 
Fund  

Oasis 
fund  

Vista 
Sakinah 

Fund  

Total 
restricted 

funds 

2018  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE 
(CONT’D) 

 

         

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

Cost of charitable 
activities (Cont’d) 

 

         

 

 

  

 

  

  

 

- Transport and 
travelling expenses 

 

1,929  - 

 

- 

 

-  6,843  5,975 

  
1,678  1,251  11,330  29,006 

- Utilities  4,099  -  -  -  13,046  9,536  5,203  -  7,896  39,780 

  777,401  71,528  28,694  263,852  1,115,348  1,048,601  442,384  330,955  1,068,854  5,147,617 

                     

Governance cost                     

- Audit fee  702  -  -  -  908  555  649  1,351  298  4,463 

- Management fee  174,847  -  -  -  233,633  230,949  110,258  113,626  218,946  1,082,259 

  175,549  -  -  -  234,541  231,504  110,907  114,977  219,244  1,086,722 

                     

TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE 

 

952,950  71,528  28,694  263,852  1,349,889 

 

1,280,105 

  
553,291  

 
445,932 

 

1,288,098  

 
6,234,339 

                     

                     

NET INCOME/ 
(EXPENDITURE) 

 

392,755  565,084  89,035  (83,842)  266,826 

 

471,649 

  
468  

 
111,294 

 

229,947  

 
2,043,216 

                     

TRANSFERS 
BETWEEN FUNDS 

 

-  -  (229,908)  -  - 

 

- 

  
(213)  

 
- 

 

-  

 
(230,121) 

                     

TOTAL FUNDS 
BROUGHT FORWARD  

 

2,036,928  117,694  499,635  693,819  2,250,371 

 

2,957,696 

  
891,605  

 
- 

 

2,028,893  

 
11,476,641 

                     

TOTAL FUNDS 
CARRIED FORWARD 

 

2,429,683  682,778  358,762  609,977  2,517,197 

 

3,429,345 

  
891,860  

 
111,294 

 

2,258,840  

 
13,289,736 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 -  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS  
 

  ASSOCIATION 

  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 

    DESIGNATED FUNDS   

  

General 
 Fund  

Childcare 
Fund  

Designated 
Project Fund  

Family 
Therapy 
Institute 

Fund  
Student Care 
Centre Fund  

Training and 
Consultancy 

Fund  

Total 
unrestricted 

funds 

  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
2017               
INCOME               
Voluntary Income               
- Donations  206,391  -  -  -  8,291  300  214,982 
- Grants and subsidies               

 Government funding  315,136  1,685,764  -  8,391  21,352  6,794  2,037,437 
 MMCDF funding  -  -  -  12,400  4,500  -  16,900 
 Corporate funding  71,125  -  -  248,364  -  5,000  324,489 

  592,652  1,685,764  -  269,155  34,143  12,094  2,593,808 

               
Income from generating funds               
- Fund-raising project  144,133  -  -  -  -  -  144,133 

               
Income from charitable activities               
- Programme fees  2,635  289,765  1,616  146,643  -  96,116  536,775 
- School fees  -  3,794,573  -  -  500,666  -  4,295,239 

  2,635  4,084,338  1,616  146,643  500,666  96,116  4,832,014 

               
Other income               

- Membership fees  911  -  -  -  -  -  911 
- Management fees  1,241,960  -  -  -  -  -  1,241,960 
- Miscellaneous income  176  40,004  105  -  4,478  -  44,763 

  1,243,047  40,004  105  -  4,478  -  1,287,634 

               
TOTAL INCOME  1,982,467  5,810,106  1,721  415,798  539,287  108,210  8,857,589 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 -  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 

    DESIGNATED FUNDS   

 Note 
General 
 Fund  

Childcare 
Fund  

Designated 
Project Fund  

Family 
Therapy 
Institute 

Fund  
Student Care 
Centre Fund  

Training and 
Consultancy 

Fund  

Total 
unrestricted 

funds 

2017  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE               
Cost of generating funds               
- Fund-raising expenses  66,949  -  -  -  -  -  66,949 

               
Cost of charitable activities               
- Allowance for impairment of receivables  -  370  -  -  9,092  -  9,462 
- Advertising  25,247  7,115  -  -  350  -  32,712 
- Bank charges  2,790  788  42  80  -  -  3,700 
- Board expenses  15,331  -  -  -  -  -  15,331 
- Computer expenses  5,352  -  -  2,295  -  70  7,717 
- Depreciation 8 124,568  87,677  -  6,060  5,075  205  223,585 
- Depreciation for investment property 9 14,698  -  -  -  -  -  14,698 
- Financial assistance/subsidies  -  -  1,616  -  -  -  1,616 
- Functions and meetings  19,608  7,609  -  2,124  11,134  6,967  47,442 
- Insurance  3,887  3,855  -  185  607  55  8,589 
- Impairment of goodwill  -  73,297  -  -  -  -  73,297 
- Maintenance fees – investment 

property 
 

4,686  -  - 
 

- 
 

-  -  4,686 
- Membership fee  275  -  -  -  -  -  275 
- Miscellaneous  3,048  29,195  -  85  900  236  33,464 
- Printing, postage and stationeries  15,762  28,419  -  1,708  3,300  2,687  51,876 
- Management fee charged by subsidiary  -  600,845  -  -  -  -  600,845 
- Programme expenses  22,545  519,422  -  103,963  69,614  44,404  759,948 
- Refreshment  2,400  2,166  -  394  80  184  5,224 
- Rental of equipment  2,102  11,750  -  582  3,180  582  18,196 
- Rental of premises  14,060  187,843  -  -  35,088  -  236,991 
- Repairs and maintenance  23,371  95,223  -  3,177  11,749  1,405  134,925 
-  Staff costs               
    CPF – employer’s contribution  144,333  360,715  -  45,948  56,381  10,211  617,588 
    Salaries and bonuses  1,107,299  2,690,356  -  309,348  423,112  92,613  4,622,728 
    Staff recruitment and training  15,136  33,391  -  5,246  1,222  2,268  57,263 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 -  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 

  ASSOCIATION 

  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 

    DESIGNATED FUNDS   

  
General 

Fund  
Childcare 

Fund  
Designated 

Project Fund  

Family 
Therapy 
Institute 

Fund  
Student Care 
Centre Fund  

Training and 
Consultancy 

Fund  

Total 
unrestricted 

funds 

2017  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE (CONT’D)               
               
Cost of charitable activities (Cont’d)               
- Staff welfare  2,394  17,900  -  972  810  207  22,283 
- Telephone and facsimile  2,621  13,335  -  1,022  4,333  1,279  22,590 
- Transport and travelling expenses  5,924  21,892  -  8,433  2,459  459  39,167 
- Utilities  8,208  47,895  -  -  15,677  -  71,780 

  1,585,645  4,841,058  1,658  491,622  654,163  163,832  7,737,978 

               
               
Governance costs               
- Audit fee  1,125  13,831  -  609  627  362  16,554 
- Management fee  -  -  -  82,723  129,546  25,947  238,216 
- Property tax  1,260  -  -  -  -  -  1,260 

  2,385  13,831  -  83,332  130,173  26,309  256,030 

               
               
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  1,654,979  4,854,889  1,658  574,954  784,336  190,141  8,060,957 

               
NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE)  327,488  955,217  63  (159,156)  (245,049)  (81,931)  796,632 

               
TRANSFERS BETWEEN FUNDS  134,564  -  -  85,246  1,222  25,403  246,435 
               
TOTAL FUNDS BROUGHT FORWARD   (1,137,075)  3,307,772  360,819  (68,358)  (177,663)  (58,511)  2,226,984 
               

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED FORWARD  (675,023)  4,262,989  360,882  (142,268)  (421,490)  (115,039)  3,270,051 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 – RESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  RESTRICTED FUNDS 

  

As- 
Salaam 
Family 

Support 
Centre 
Fund  

Capital 
Grant 
Fund  

Care 
and 

Share 
Grant  

Clients 
Assistance 

Fund  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(East)  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(West)  
Inspirasi 

Fund  
Vista Sakinah 

Fund  

Total 
restricted 

Funds 

2017  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
INCOME                   
Voluntary Income                   
- Donations  2,124  -  -  316,512  4,866  284  -  -  323,786 
- Grants and subsidies                   

 Government funding  923,514  50,000  572,272  -  1,308,265  1,211,882  510,211  961,979  5,538,123 
 MMCDF funding  -  -  -  -  -  -  588  -  588 
 NCSS funding                   
- Community chest   48,312  -  -  -  48,105  22,942  -  -  119,359 
- Other funds  241,559  -  -  -  349,792  317,619  227,608  202,701  1,339,279 

  1,215,509  50,000  572,272  316,512  1,711,028  1,552,727  738,407  1,164,680  7,321,135 

                   
Income from charitable 
activities 

 
         

 
  

  
  

 

- Programme fees  15,211  -  -  -  5,640  5,105  15,879  111,280  153,115 

                   
Other income                   
- Miscellaneous income  -  -  -  -  18,701  812  -  -  19,513 

                   
                   
                   
TOTAL INCOME  1,230,720  50,000  572,272  316,512  1,735,369  1,558,644  754,286  1,275,960  7,493,763 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 – RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  RESTRICTED FUNDS 

 Note 

As- 
Salaam 
Family 

Support 
Centre 
Fund  

Capital 
Grant 
Fund  

Care 
and 

Share 
Grant  

Clients 
Assistance 

Fund  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(East)  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(West)  
Inspirasi 

Fund  
Vista Sakinah 

Fund  

Total 
restricted 

funds 

2017  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE                   

Cost of charitable activities                   

- Advertising  1,377  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,377 

- Bank charges  -  -  -  -  45  -  -  30  75 

- Computer expenses  -  -  26,740  -  -  -  -  -  26,740 

- Depreciation 8 5,680  43,430  -  -  3,872  3,895  3,117  9,074  69,068 

- Financial assistance and 
subsidies 

 

-  -  -  188,974  23,432 

 

5,799  990  -  219,195 

- Functions and meetings  3,401  -  -  -  9,143  7,446  1,750  5,561  27,301 

- Insurance  724  -  -  -  745  919  434  640  3,462 

- Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 

 

-  670 

 

- 

 

-  -  -  -  1,437  2,107 

- Miscellaneous  708  -  -  -  5,458  2,598  1,775  2,575  13,114 

- Printing, postage and 
stationery 

 

2,930  - 

 

- 

 

-  7,627  5,890  4,105  7,706  28,258 

- Programme expenses  66,589  -  20,051  -  89,895  34,226  39,677  159,506  409,944 

- Refreshment  787  -  -  -  1,598  851  646  767  4,649 

- Rental of equipment  2,102  -  -  -  2,102  2,311  2,102  2,101  10,718 

- Rental of premises  7,319  -  -  -  15,010  7,524  9,039  17,321  56,213 

- Repairs and maintenance  15,344  -  -  -  36,977  29,937  14,714  16,272  113,244 

- Staff cost    -  -  -           

     CPF – employer’s     
contribution 

 

74,718  - 

 

- 

 

-  109,510 

 

108,717  37,030  85,571  415,546 

     Salaries and bonuses  594,353  -  -  -  823,313  886,233  225,975  635,403  3,165,277 

     Staff recruitment and 
training 

 

10,713  - 

 

- 

 

-  28,319  26,609  7,570  14,916  88,127 

     Staff welfare  1,582  -  -  -  773  2,635  1,919  2,037  8,946 

- Telephone and facsimile  4,176  -  -  -  4,775  4,789  2,670  4,041  20,451 

- Transport and travelling 
expenses 

 

1,913  - 

 

- 

 

-  10,973  8,583  2,043  4,622  28,134 

- Utilities  4,250  -  -  -  13,638  9,032  5,247  6,899  39,066 

  798,666  44,100  46,791  188,974  1,187,205  1,147,994  360,803  976,479  4,751,012 
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ASSOCIATION’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 – RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 
 
  ASSOCIATION 

  RESTRICTED FUNDS 

  

As- 
Salaam 
Family 

Support 
Centre 
Fund  

Capital 
Grant 
Fund  

Care and 
Share 
Grant  

Clients 
Assistance 

Fund  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(East)  

Family 
Service 
Centre 
Fund 

(West)  
Inspirasi 

Fund  
Vista Sakinah 

Fund  

Total 
restricted 

funds 

2017  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
EXPENDITURE (CONT’D)                   

                   

Governance cost                   

- Audit fee  1,538  -  -  -  2,455  2,520  771  2,191  9,475 

- Management fee  183,863  -  -  -  255,761  242,291  109,169  212,660  1,003,744 

  185,401  -  -  -  258,216  244,811  109,940  214,851  1,013,219 

                   

TOTAL EXPENDITURE  984,067  44,100  46,791  188,974  1,445,421  1,392,805  470,743  1,191,330  5,764,231 

                   

                   

NET INCOME  246,653  5,900  525,481  127,538  289,948  165,839  283,543  84,630  1,729,532 

                   

TRANSFERS BETWEEN 
FUNDS 

 

10,713  -  (259,138)  (26,561)  -  26,608  -  1,943  (246,435) 

                   

TOTAL FUNDS BROUGHT 
FORWARD  

 

1,779,562  111,794  233,292  592,842  1,960,423  2,765,249  608,062  1,942,320  9,993,544 

                   

TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED 
FORWARD 

 

2,036,928  117,694  499,635  693,819  2,250,371  2,957,696  891,605  2,028,893  11,476,641 

 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2018 
 

  

Balance at 
beginning of 

year  
Net Income/ 
(Expenditure)  

Transfer between 
funds 

(Note 12)  

 
Balance at end 

of year 
         
2018  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
         
Unrestricted Funds         
General Fund  (675,023)  (67,891)  137,529  (605,385) 
         
Designated Funds         
Childcare Fund  4,494,850  1,305,963  -  5,800,813 
Designated Project Fund  360,882  (2,589)  -  358,293 
Family Therapy Institute Fund  (142,268)  (202,127)  50,000  (294,395) 
Student Care Centre Fund  (421,490)  (217,496)  8,675  (630,311) 
Training and Consultancy Fund  (115,039)  (117,670)  33,917  (198,792) 

  3,501,912  698,190  230,121  4,430,223 

Restricted Funds         
As-Salaam Family Support 

Centre Fund  2,036,928  392,755  -  2,429,683 
Capital Grant Fund  117,694  565,084  -  682,778 
Care and Share Fund  499,635  89,035  (229,908)  358,762 
Clients Assistance Fund  693,819  (83,842)  -  609,977 
Family Services Centre Fund 

(East)  2,250,371  266,826  -  2,517,197 
Family Services Centre Fund 

(West)  2,957,696  471,649  -  3,429,345 
Oasis Fund  -  111,294  -  111,294 
Inspirasi Fund  891,605  468  (213)  891,860 
Vista Sakinah Fund  2,028,893  229,947  -  2,258,840 

  11,476,641  2,043,216  (230,121)  13,289,736 

         
TOTAL FUNDS  14,978,553  2,741,406  -  17,719,959 

         

  

Balance at 
beginning of 

year  
Net Income/ 
(Expenditure)  

Transfer between 
funds 

(Note 12)  

 
Balance at end 

of year 
         
2017  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
         
Unrestricted funds         
General fund  (1,137,075)  327,488  134,564  (675,023) 
         
Designated funds         
Childcare fund  3,307,772  1,187,078  -  4,494,850 
Designated project fund  360,819  63  -  360,882 
Family therapy institute fund  (68,358)  (159,156)  85,246  (142,268) 
Student care centre fund  (177,663)  (245,049)  1,222  (421,490) 
Training and consultancy fund  (58,511)  (81,931)  25,403  (115,039) 

  2,226,984  1,028,493  246,435  3,501,912 

Restricted funds         
As-Salaam family support centre 

fund  1,779,562  246,653  10,713  2,036,928 
Capital grant fund  111,794  5,900  -  117,694 
Care and share fund  233,292  525,481  (259,138)  499,635 
Clients assistance fund  592,842  127,538  (26,561)  693,819 
Family services centre fund 

(East)  1,960,423  289,948  -  2,250,371 
Family services centre fund 

(West)  2,765,249  165,839  26,608  2,957,696 
Inspirasi fund  608,062  283,543  -  891,605 
Vista sakinah fund  1,942,320  84,630  1,943  2,028,893 

  9,993,544  1,729,532  (246,435)  11,476,641 

         
TOTAL FUNDS  12,220,528  2,758,025  -  14,978,553 

    
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 
2018 
 
   2018  2017 
 Note  S$  S$ 
      
Cash flows from operating activities      

Net income before tax   2,747,135  2,768,325 
      
Adjustments for:      

- Allowance for impairment of receivables 6  10,319  9,462 
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8  530,334  293,766 
- Depreciation of investment property 9  14,698  14,698 

- Impairment of goodwill   -  73,297 
- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   -  2,107 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes   3,302,486  3,161,655 
      
Changes in working capital      
- Fees receivables   (26,471)  26,339 

- Other receivables   482,830  (236,465) 
- Trade and other payables   (198,267)  243,586 

Net cash provided by operating activities   3,560,578  3,195,115 
      
Income tax paid 11  (15,223)  - 

Net cash generating from operating activities   3,545,355  3,195,115 

      
Cash flows from investing activities      
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   -  291 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  8  (2,243,272)  (519,300) 

Net cash used in investing activities   (2,243,272)  (519,009) 

      
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,302,083  2,676,106 
      

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial 
year   13,195,491  10,519,385 

      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year   14,497,574  13,195,491 

      
      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 
 
These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
1. General information 
 

Persatuan Pemudi Islam Singapura (the “Association”) was registered on 2 April 1964 under the 
Societies Act, Chapter 311.  The Association is registered as a charity under the Charities Act since  
30 December 1988. The Association was accorded the Institution of Public Character (“IPC”) status 

for the period from 01 January 2017 to 31 December 2018. 
 

The Association’s registered address is at 1 Eunos Crescent, #01-2509, Singapore 400001.  

 
The principal objectives of the Association are to: 
 Promote cultivate educational economic, cultural and social awareness and interests among 

Muslim women in Singapore; 
 Enhance and promote the welfare of the Muslim family; and 
 Operate and manage early childhood educational centres, social services and student care 

centres. 

 
The Association is comprised of 18 centres as follow:  
 PPIS Corporate Office  
 PPIS Training and Consultancy 
 PPIS Family Therapy Institute  

 PPIS As- Salaam Family Support Centre 
 PPIS Student Care Centre (Bedok)  

 PPIS Student Care Centre (Jurong)  
 PPIS Family Service Centre (East)  
 PPIS Family Service Centre (West) 
 PPIS Oasis  
 PPIS Child Development Centre – Bedok Reservoir 
 PPIS Child Development Centre – Pasir Ris 1 

 PPIS Child Development Centre – Pasir Ris 2 
 PPIS Child Development Centre – Bukit Batok 
 PPIS Child Development Centre – Sembawang 
 PPIS Child Development Centre – Jurong 1 
 PPIS Child Development Centre – Jurong 2 
 PPIS Vista Sakinah 
 Inspirasi PPIS 

 
The principal activities of the subsidiary are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 
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2. Significant accounting policies 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and 
statement of financial activities of Association have been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311, the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and Regulations and 

Financial Reporting Standards.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

 

These financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar (“S$”), which is the Association’s 
functional currency. 

 

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 

 
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2017  

 
On 1 April 2017, the Group adopted the new or amended FRSs and Interpretations of FRSs (“INT 
FRSs”) that are mandatory for application for the financial year.   

The adoption of these new or amended FRSs and INT FRSs did not result in substantial changes to 

the accounting policies of the Group and the Association and had no material effect on the amounts 
reported for the current or prior financial year.  

The Group has not adopted the following relevant new/revised FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to 

FRSs that were issued but not yet effective.  

  Descriptions Annual periods 
commencing on 

 

FRS 109 Financial Instruments 
FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
Amendments to: 
- FRS 102 Classification and Measurement of Share-based 

Payment Transactions 

- FRS 40 Transfers of Investment Property 

- FRS 115 Clarifications to FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers 

 

1 January 2018 

 

FRS 116 Leases 
Amendments to: 
- FRS 109 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation  
- FRS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 
 

 

1 January 2019 

 

Management believes that the adoption of the revised standards and interpretations will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

2.2 Income recognition 
 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the gross inflow of 
economic benefits during the year arising from ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue 
is recognised as follows: 

 

2.2.1 Grants and donations 
 

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached 
conditions.  Government grants, relating to specific costs are deferred and recognised in 
the statement of financial activities over the period necessary to match them with the costs 

they are intended to compensate. 
 
Donation income is recognised on receipt basis. 
 
Donations-in-kind received for continuing use are capitalised and included in the balance 
sheet at a reasonable estimate or in the event that it is not practicable to do so, a nominal 
value of S$1 is assigned to capitalise the usable assets. 

 

2.2.2 School and Programme fee 

 

Revenue received from school fees are recognised on an accrual basis. Programme fees 
are recognised over the period of the programme conducted. 

 

2.2.3 Zakat  

 
Allocation of zakat and income from fund-raising projects are taken up in the financial 
statements as income on receipt basis. Grants and subsidies are taken up in the financial 
statements as income on accrual basis. 

 

2.2.4 Interest income 
 

Interest income on bank current accounts and fixed deposits placed with banks are 
recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
 

2.2.5 Miscellaneous income 

 

Other income is recognised when earned. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

2.3 Expenditure 
 

All expenditures are accounted for on accrual basis, aggregated under the respective areas.  Direct 
costs are attributed to the activity where possible.  Where costs are not wholly attributable to an 
activity, they are apportioned on a basis consistent with the use of resources. 

 
2.3.1 Cost of generating funds 

 

The cost of generating funds are those costs attributable to generating income for the 

Group, other than those costs incurred in undertaking charitable activities in furtherance of 

the Group’s objects. 
  

2.3.2 Cost of charitable activities 
 

Expenditure on charitable activities comprises all costs incurred in the pursuit of the 
charitable objects of the Group. Those costs, where not wholly attributable, are 
apportioned between the categories of charitable expenditure. 
 
The total costs of each category of charitable expenditure therefore include an 
apportionment of support cost, where possible. 

 
2.3.3 Governance costs  

 
Governance costs include the costs of governance arrangements, which relate to the 
general running of the Group as opposed to the direct management functions inherent in 
generating funds, service delivery and programme or project work. Expenditure on the 
governance of the charity will normally include both direct and related support costs which 
include internal and external audit, apportioned manpower costs and general costs in 
supporting the governance activities, legal advice for governing board members and cost 

associated with constitutional and statutory requirements. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

2.4 Group accounting 
 

2.4.1 Subsidiaries 
 

(i) Consolidation 

 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has 
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, 

variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group.   They are de-consolidated from the 

date on that control ceases.  
 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between group entities are eliminated.  Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated but are considered an impairment indicator of the asset 
transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.  

 
Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of 
operations and its net assets, which is attributable to the interests that are not owned 
directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Association. They are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of financial activities, statement of changes 

in equity and statement of financial position.  Total income is attributed to the 
non-controlling interests based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if 

this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 

(ii) Acquisition  
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations 
entered into by the Group. 

 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises 
the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests 
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any 
contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.  
 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. 
 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

2.4 Group accounting 
 

2.4.1 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 
 

(ii) Acquisition (Cont’d) 

 
The excess of (a) the consideration transferred the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity 

interest in the acquiree over the (b) fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill.  
 

(iii)  Disposals 
 

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of 
control over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any 
goodwill are derecognised.   
 
Any retained equity interest in the entity is re-measured at fair value.  The difference 

between the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost 
and its fair value is recognised in statement of financial activities. 

 
2.4.2 Transactions with non-controlling interests 

 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 
control over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the 

Association.  Any difference between the change in the carrying amounts of the 
non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognised within equity attributable to the equity holders of the Association. 

 
2.5 Property, plant and equipment 
 

2.5.1 Measurement 
 

All property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its 
purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 

and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, 
plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal and restoration is 
included as a consequence of acquiring or using the property, plant and equipment. 
 

2.5.2 Depreciation 
 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives. A full year’s 
depreciation charge is allocated on an annual basis as at year-end so long as ownership is 
ascertained at year-end.  The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 Useful lives 
  

Furniture, fittings and renovations 5 years 
Office and kindergarten equipment 3 - 5 years 
Air - conditioner 5 years 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 
 
 2.5.2 Depreciation (Cont’d) 
 

The residual value and useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and 

equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each statement of financial 
position date. The effects of any revision are included in the statement of financial 
activities when the changes arise. 

 
2.5.3 Subsequent expenditure 

 

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been 
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Association and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised 
in statement of financial activities when incurred. 
 

2.5.4 Disposal 

 
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in statement of financial activities. 
 

2.6 Intangible assets 

 
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses, represents the excess of (i) the sum of the 

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible 
assets and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  

 
2.7 Investments in subsidiaries 

 
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost, less accumulated impairment losses in the 
Association’s statement of financial position. On disposal of such investments, the difference 
between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in 
statement of financial activities. 

 
2.8 Investment properties 

  
Investment properties are properties held for long-term rental yields and/or for capital 
appreciation. Investment properties are stated initially at cost, including transaction costs. The 
carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time 
that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day to day servicing 
of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. 

 
An investment property is derecognised when either it has been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits is 
expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on the retirement or disposal of an investment 
property is recognised in the profit or loss in the financial year of retirement or disposal. 
 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of investment properties 
over their estimated useful lives of 50 years. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
2.8 Investment properties (Cont’d) 

 
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are 
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each statement of financial position date. The effects of 
any revisions are recognised in the statement of financial activities when the changes arise. 

 
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a 
transfer from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 

accounting is the carrying value at the date of change in use. For a transfer from owner occupied 
property to investment property, the property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy for property, plant and equipment as set out above up to the date of change in use. 

 
On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount is recognised in statement of financial activities. 

 
2.9 Financial assets 
 
 2.9.1 Classification 

 
The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables and available-for-sale 
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature of the asset and the purpose for 
which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 

 
Loan and receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They are presented as current assets, 
except for those expected to be realised later than 12 months after the statement of 
financial position date which are presented as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables 
are presented as “fees and other receivables” and “cash and cash equivalents” on the 

statement of financial position.  
 

2.9.2 Recognition and derecognition 
 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date 
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 

assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership.  On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between 
the carrying amount and the sale proceeds is recognised in statement of financial activities.  
 
Trade receivables that are factored out to banks and other financial institutions with 
recourse to the Group are not derecognised until the recourse period has expired and the 
risks and rewards of the receivables have been fully transferred. The corresponding cash 

received from the financial institutions is recorded as borrowings. 
 

2.9.3 Initial measurement 
 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for 
financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 

immediately as expenses.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d) 
 

2.9.4 Impairment  
 
The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an 
allowance for impairment when such evidence exists. 

 

 Loans and receivables 
 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 

bankruptcy and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these 
financial assets are impaired.   
 
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment 
allowance account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 

account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against 
the same line item in statement of financial activities.  
 
The impairment allowance is reduced through statement of financial activities in a 
subsequent period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related 

decrease can be objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously 
impaired is increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the 

amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in prior periods. 
 
2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets  
 

Property, plant and equipment and investments in a subsidiary are tested for impairment 
whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired. 

 
For the purpose of impairment testing, recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less 
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the 
case, the recoverable amount is determined for the Cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset 
belongs. 
 

If the recoverable amount of the asset or (CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset or (CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
 
The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an 
impairment loss in statement of financial activities.  
 
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in 

the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised.  The carrying amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, 
provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of any accumulated depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. 
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 2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

 2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont’d) 
 

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in statement of financial activities.  
 
2.11 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities 

 
The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and 
over-the-counter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the statement of 

financial position date. The quoted market prices used for financial assets are the current bid 
prices; the appropriate quoted market prices used for financial liabilities are the current asking 
prices. 

  
 The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by 
using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions based on 
market conditions that are existing at each statement of financial position date. Where 
appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation 
techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are also used to determine the fair values of the 
financial instruments.   

 
The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their 
carrying amounts. 

 
2.12 Leases 

 

Operating leases 

 

Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessors) are recognised in statement of financial activities on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 
expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which termination takes place.   Rental on operating lease is charged to 
statement of financial activities. Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in statement of 

financial activities when incurred. 
 
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 

equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value. Fixed deposits that are pledged to secure bank facilities are 

excluded as they are used by the Group for investing and financing activities.  
 
2.14 Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual agreements 
of the instrument and are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 

entered into.  All interest related charges are recognised in the statement of financial activities.  
Financial liabilities include “Trade and other payables”. 

 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligations under the liability are discharged, 
cancelled or expire.  When existing financial liabilities are replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms of an existing liability or are substantially modified, such an 

exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 

a new liability, and the difference in respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of 
financial activities. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

2.15 Trade and other payables 

 Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
2.16     Provisions for other liabilities and charges 

 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges are recognised when the Association has a present legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

 
2.17 Income taxes  

 
Current income tax liabilities for current and prior periods are recognised at the amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the 
deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 

loss at the time of the transaction. 
 

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

 A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 
 
Deferred income tax is measured: 
 
(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 

realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that 

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date; 
and 

 

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, 
at the statement of financial position date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its 
assets and liabilities except for investment properties. Investment property measured at 

fair value is presumed to be recovered entirely through sale. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
2.17 Income taxes  
 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except to 
the extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised 
directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on 

acquisition. 
 
The Group accounts for investment tax credits (for example, productivity and innovation credit) 

similar to accounting for other tax credits where deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax 
credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
unused tax credit can be utilised. 

 
2.18 Employee compensation 

Defined contribution plans 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), on a mandatory, 

contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the 
contributions have been paid. The Group’s contribution to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due. 

 
 Employee leave entitlement  

 
 All leave entitlement not utilised by employees by the end of the financial year will be forfeited. 

 Hence, no provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave.  
 
3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions  

 
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimate and assumption 
that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year is discussed below. 
 

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies 
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. 

 

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 

The Group reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on 
factors such as business plans and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological 

developments. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by 
changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned. 

  



Persatuan Pemudi Islam Singapura 
and its subsidiary  
[UEN.S64SS0011K] 

 

Audited Financial Statements 
Financial Year Ended 31 March 2018 

  

 

Fiducia LLP, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore                       Page 39 of 53 

 

3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Cont’d) 
 

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

Government grants 
  
Government grants to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the statement of 
financial activities on the accrual basis in the financial year theses operating expenses were 
incurred and there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attached 

to it. For certain grants, the government agencies reserve the right to withdraw, withhold or reduce 

the amount of any funds approved but not yet disbursed or to call for the refund of all funds which 
have been disbursed to the Association if the conditions are not met. 

 

 
4. Tax deductible receipts 

 
Tax deductible receipts issued by the Association and its activity centres for donations received 

during the financial year, pursuant to its Institution of a Public Character(“IPC”) amounting to  
S$ 161,147 (2017: S$ 198,937).  

 

  
5. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
   Group  Association 

   2018  2017  2018  2017 

   S$  S$  S$  S$ 
          
Cash on hand   17,410  15,650  17,410  15,650 
Cash at banks   14,480,164  13,179,841  14,151,495  12,577,603 

   14,497,574  13,195,491  14,168,905  12,593,253 

          
At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair 
values. 

 
 

6. Fees and other receivables 
 
  Group  Association 

  2018  2017  2018  2017 
  S$  S$  S$  S$ 

         
Fees receivables  82,618  56,147  82,618  56,147 
Less: Allowance for 

impairment    (19,781)  
 

(9,462)  (19,781)  (9,462) 

Net fees receivables  62,837  46,685  62,837  46,685 

         
- Other debtors  115,352  110,817  110,076  104,868 
- Grant/donations 

receivable  
 

676,989  
 

409,654  676,989  409,654 
- Deposits  96,746  87,692  96,746  87,692 
- Prepayments  69,899  85,355  69,899  85,022 

- Amount receivable 
from MUIS - 
Baitulmal  

 
 

195,614  

 
 

943,912  195,614  943,912 
- Amount due from 

subsidiary   

 

-  

 

-  51,459  336,209 

  1,154,600  1,637,430  1,200,783  1,967,357 

         
Total  1,217,437  1,684,115  1,263,620  2,014,042 
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6. Fees and other receivables (Cont’d) 
 
Movement in allowance for impairment of fees receivables: 
 
  Group  Association 

  2018  2017  2018  2017 

  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
         
Balance at beginning 

of financial year  9,462  25,128  9,462  25,128 

Bad debts written off 
during the financial 

year  -  (25,128)  -  (25,128) 
Allowance made  10,319  9,462  10,319  9,462 

Balance at end of 
financial year  19,781  9,462  19,781  9,462 

         
Amount due from a subsidiary is non-trade, interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand. 
Included in this amount for both years is a S$100,000 shareholder’s loan given in financial year 
ended 31 March 2017 
 

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of fees and other receivables approximated their fair 

values. 
 
 

7. Investment in subsidiary  
 
   Association 

   2018  2017 
   S$  S$ 
      
Unquoted shares, at cost   1,000  1,000 

      
 

Subsidiary 

  
Date of 
incorporation  

Country of 
Incorporation  

Percentage 
of equity 

held 

Percentage 
of equity 

held  Principal Activity 

      2018 2017   
          
7oaks Pte. Ltd. 
 

 15 April 2016  Singapore  100% 100%  Child care services 
for pre-school 
children and 
business and 
management 
consultancy 
services.   

  

 The share in subsidiary are registered in the name of Fatimah binte Azimullah and Sapi’ah D/O 
Junab Abdul Barick Molla which were held in trust for the Association.  
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8. Property, plant and equipment 
 

Group  Furniture, 
fittings and 
renovation 

Office and 
kindergarten 
equipment Air-conditioner Total 

  S$ S$ S$ S$ 
2018      
At cost      
      
Beginning of financial year  1,586,361 311,899 49,040 1,947,300 
Additions  2,169,132 62,920 11,220 2,243,272 
Written off   (5,444) - - (5,444) 

End of financial year  3,750,049 374,819 60,260 4,185,128 

      
Accumulated depreciation       
      
Beginning of financial year  574,245 206,555 37,906 818,706 
Depreciation   468,079 55,927 6,328 530,334 
Written off  (5,444) - - (5,444) 

End of financial year  1,036,880 262,482 44,234 1,343,596 

      
Carrying amount      
End of financial year  2,713,169 112,337 16,026 2,841,532 

      

  Furniture, 
fittings and 
renovation 

Office and 
kindergarten 
equipment Air-conditioner Total 

  S$ S$ S$ S$ 
2017      
At cost      
      
Beginning of financial year  4,381,143 582,691 51,320 5,015,154 
Additions  451,948 59,202 8,150 519,300 
Written off  (3,246,730) (329,994) (10,430) (3,587,154) 

End of financial year  1,586,361 311,899 49,040 1,947,300 

      
Accumulated depreciation       
      
Beginning of financial year  3,575,548 496,001 38,147 4,109,696 
Depreciation   245,426 40,548 7,792 293,766 
Written off  (3,246,729) (329,994) (8,033) (3,584,756) 

End of financial year  574,245 206,555 37,906 818,706 

      
Carrying amount      
End of financial year  1,012,116 105,344 11,134 1,128,594 
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8. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 
 
Association  Furniture, 

fittings and 
renovation 

Office and 
kindergarten 
equipment Air conditioner Total 

  S$ S$ S$ S$ 
2018      
At cost      
      
Beginning of financial year  1,586,361 306,891 49,040 1,942,292 
Additions  2,164,921 62,920 11,220 2,239,061 
Written off  (5,444) - - (5,444) 

End of financial year  3,745,838 369,811 60,260 4,175,909 

      
Accumulated depreciation       
      
Beginning of financial year  574,245 205,442 37,906 817,593 

Depreciation   467,377 54,258 6,328 527,963 
Disposal  (5,444) - - (5,444) 

End of financial year  1,036,178 259,700 44,234 1,340,112 

      
Carrying amount      
End of financial year  2,709,660 110,111 16,026 2,835,797 

      

      
  Furniture, 

fittings and 
renovation 

Office and 
kindergarten 
equipment Air conditioner Total 

  S$ S$ S$ S$ 
2017      
At cost      
      
Beginning of financial year  4,381,143 582,691 51,320 5,015,154 
Additions  451,948 54,194 8,150 514,292 
Written off  (3,246,730) (329,994) (10,430) (3,587,154) 

End of financial year  1,586,361 306,891 49,040 1,942,292 

      
Accumulated depreciation       
      
Beginning of financial year  3,575,548 496,001 38,147 4,109,696 
Depreciation   245,426 39,435 7,792 292,653 
Disposal  (3,246,729) (329,994) (8,033) (3,584,756) 

End of financial year  574,245 205,442 37,906 817,593 

      
Carrying amount      
End of financial year  1,012,116 101,449 11,134 1,124,699 
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8. Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 
 

Depreciation is charged against the following funds: 
 
   Group  Association 

   2018  2017  2018  2017 

   S$  S$  S$  S$ 
          
Unrestricted funds   427,987  224,698  425,616  223,585 
Restricted funds   102,347  69,068  102,347  69,068 

   530,334  293,766  527,963  292,653 

          
 

9. Investment property 
 

   Group and Association 

   2018  2017 
   S$  S$ 
      
Cost      

Beginning and end of financial year   734,878  734,878 

      
Accumulated depreciation      
Beginning of financial year   44,094  29,396 
Depreciation   14,698  14,698 

End of financial year   58,792  44,094 

      
Carrying amount   676,086  690,784 

 
The management has estimated the fair value of investment property at end of the financial year 
approximates to S$868,000 (2017: S$868,000). The fair value is based on direct comparison 
method after taking into consideration the prevailing market conditions and market evidence of 
most recent transaction prices for similar properties. The most significant observable input into the 

valuation model is the price per square metre of the property. The fair value is classified as level 2 
in the fair value hierarchy (2017: level 2). 

 
Details of the investment property held by the Group and Association are as follows: 

 
Location  Tenure At cost  Carrying value 

   2018  2017  2018  2017 
   S$  S$  S$  S$ 
          
116 Changi Road 
#03-02 WIS @ Changi 
Singapore 419718  

 
 

Freehold 734,878 

 

734,878 

 

676,086  690,784 

          
The investment property is registered in the name of Fatimah bte Azimullah, Fadlun Bte Hj Ab Kadir 
and Sapiah d/o Junab Abdul Barick Molla, which was held in trust for the Association. 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
  



Persatuan Pemudi Islam Singapura 
and its subsidiary  
[UEN.S64SS0011K] 

 

Audited Financial Statements 
Financial Year Ended 31 March 2018 

  

 

Fiducia LLP, Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants of Singapore                       Page 44 of 53 

 

10. Other payables 
 

  Group  Association 

  2018  2017  2018  2017 
  S$  S$  S$  S$ 
         

Other payables:         
- Accruals  190,932  168,480  180,303  161,683 
- Advance fees 

received  
 

20,217  
 

17,066  20,217  17,066 

- Childcare deposit  346,564  238,551  346,564  238,551 
- Deferred income  12,621  4,920  12,621  4,920 

- GST payable  46,463  51,441  46,463  51,441 
- Third parties  850,692  447,685  850,692  447,412 
- Provision for bonus  30,955  762,473  -  736,498 
- School pocket money 

fund  
 

13,420  
 

19,515  13,420  19,515 

         

  1,511,864  1,710,131  1,470,280  1,677,086 

         
 

 
11. Income tax 
 

The Association is registered as a charity under the Charities Act since 30 December 1988.  

Consequently, the income of the Association is exempted from tax under the provisions of Section 
13 of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. 
 

The Group’s income tax solely pertains to the profit before income tax attributable to its subsidiary.  
 
   Group 

   2018  2017 
   S$  S$ 

      
Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:      
- Current income tax   806  10,300 
- Under provision of income tax   4,923  - 

   5,729  10,300 

 

The income tax expense varies from the amount of income tax determined by applying the 
Singapore income tax rate to profit before income tax as a result of the following: 
 

   Group 

   2018  2017 
   S$  S$ 
      
Profit before income tax   2,747,135  2,768,325 

      
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% (2017: 17%)   467,013  470,615 
Effects of:      
- Income not subject to tax    (464,550)  (429,448) 
- Expenses not deductible for tax purpose   403  1,613 
- Under provision of tax for prior year   4,923  - 

- Statutory stepped income exemption   (2,060)  (32,480) 

Tax charge   5,729  10,300 
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11. Income tax (Cont’d) 

 
   Group 

   2018  2017 
   S$  S$ 
Movement in current income tax liabilities      
Beginning of financial year   10,300  - 

Income tax paid   (15,223)  - 
Current income tax   806  10,300 
Under provision in preceding financial year   4,923  - 

End of financial year   806  10,300 

      
 

12. Unrestricted and restricted funds 
 

Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the Board of Management in the 

furtherance of the general objectives of the Association and which have not been designated for 
specific purposes. 

 
  General Fund 
 

This fund is to be used for non-specific purposes at the discretion of the Board of Management 

in furtherance of the Association’s objects. 
 

Childcare Fund (Designated) 
 

The objective of the Childcare fund is to provide a healthy foundation by nurturing the Islamic 
environment that contributes to the total development of children. Its programmes concentrate 
on 5 core areas of development namely, spiritual, intellectual, physical, social and emotional. 

 
Designated Project Fund (Designated) 

 
The Designated Project fund provides several social service programmes that aim to meet the 
needs of the Malay/Muslim community and strengthen family life. This is possible through the 
support of the general public and fund-raising projects in addition to receiving grants from 
Ministry of Social and Family Development (MSF), National Council of Social Services (NCSS), 

MUIS and Yayasan Mendaki. 
 
Family Therapy Institute Fund (Designated) 
 
The Family Therapy Institute fund is designed to help families collaborate and calibrate to 

address family transitions or challenges. 

 
Student Care Centre “SCC” Fund (Designated) 
 
The Student Care Centre fund provides supervised care for school-going children ages 7-14 
years old. The programme aims to alleviate the problems faced by latchkey children. It offers a 
structured curriculum that emphasises wholesome care as well as enhancement of the children’s 
development in all aspects. Children of low-income families are assisted with fee subsidies.  

 
Training & Consultancy Fund (Designated) 

 
The Training and Consultancy Unit serves as a platform to provide impactful training and 
consultancy work for professionals to develop cross-cultural competency as well as for members 
of the Muslim community to be aware and skilled in dealing with individual, family and social 

issues.  
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12. Unrestricted and restricted funds (Cont’d) 

 
Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions 
imposed by the fund providers. 
 
As – Salaam Family Support Centre Fund 

 
The As-Salaam Family Support Centre provides support programmes for single parents and 

children particularly those from the lower socio-economic background to cope and overcome 
challenges, to rebuild their family life and attain salaam or peace in their journey of life. 

 

Capital Grant Fund 
 

Assets related grants or donations are recognised in the statement of financial activities as 

received. The restricted fund will then be reduced over the useful life of the asset in line with its 
depreciation. 

 
Care and Share Grant 

 
Care and Share is a national fund-raising and volunteerism movement led by Community Chest 
for the social service sector. It aims to recognise the contributions made by voluntary welfare 

organisation (VWOs). Eligible donations raised by Community Chest and participating VWOs till 
31 March 2016 will be matched dollar-for-dollar by the government. The matched amount will 
go towards building the capabilities and capacities of the social service sector and supporting 
social services to meet rising needs. 
 

Clients Assistance Fund 
 

The Clients Assistance Fund was established with amounts donated by the Lien Foundation and 
others to the Association for the purpose of providing financial assistance to existing financial aid 
clients and to SCC students in their monthly programmes fees. 

 
The fund also includes Zakat donations received that are used to provide financial assistance to 
existing financial aid clients who are in debt but needs assistance to meet his/her basic needs 

such as utility bills, conservancy charges as well as housing. 
 
Family Service Centre Fund (East and West) 

 
PPIS Family Service Centre fund provides preventive, development programmes to enable the 
family to function effectively as a unit within the community. The Fund also aims to promote, 
develop & maintain the well-being of family units to contribute to the progress of the 

community.  
 

Inspirasi Fund 
 

This fund is for the Inspirasi PPIS programme and activities. Inspirasi PPIS is a hub for marriage 
preparation and enrichment dedicated to young couples. 
 

Oasis Fund  
 

  PPIS Oasis was established in 2017 and is the third Fostering Agency appointed by the MSF. 
Through casework management, therapeutic and support services, the centre hopes to facilitate 
the fostering journey of both foster child and parents. The centre also aims to reach out to more 
aspiring foster parents through recruitment efforts. 
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12. Unrestricted and restricted funds (Cont’d) 
 
Vista Sakinah Fund  

 
The PPIS Vista Sakinah provides a comprehensive service to Malay/Muslim remarrying couples 
and stepfamilies supported by the MSF and the Community Leaders’ Forum.  

   

 

2018 

Balance at 
beginning  
of year 

Net income/ 
(expenditure) Transfer* 

Balance at  
end of year 

Group S$ S$ S$ S$ 
     
Unrestricted funds     
General fund (675,023) (67,891) 137,529 (605,385) 

     

Designated Fund     

- Childcare Fund 4,494,850 1,305,963 - 5,800,813 

- Project Fund 360,882 (2,589) - 358,293 

- Family Therapy Institute Fund (142,268) (202,127) 50,000 (294,395) 

- Student Care Centre Fund (421,490) (217,496) 8,675 (630,311) 

- Training and Consultancy Fund (115,039) (117,670) 33,917 (198,792) 

 3,501,912 698,190 230,121 4,430,223 

Restricted funds     

- As-Salaam Family Support Centre 
Fund 2,036,928 392,755 - 2,429,683 

- Capital Grant Fund 117,694 565,084 - 682,778 

- Care and Share Grant 499,635 89,035 (229,908) 358,762 

- Clients Assistance Fund 693,819 (83,842) - 609,977 

- Family Service Centre Fund (East) 2,250,371 266,826 - 2,517,197 

- Family Service Centre Fund (West) 2,957,696 471,649 - 3,429,345 

- Inspirasi Fund 891,605 468 (213) 891,860 

- Oasis Fund - 111,294 - 111,294 

- Vista Sakinah Fund 2,028,893 229,947 - 2,258,840 

 11,476,641 2,043,216 (230,121) 13,289,736 

     

TOTAL FUNDS 14,978,553 2,741,406 - 17,719,959 
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12. Unrestricted and restricted funds (Cont’d) 
  

2017 

Balance at 
beginning  
of year 

Net income/ 
(expenditure) Transfer* 

Balance at  
end of year 

Group S$ S$ S$ S$ 
     
Unrestricted funds     
General fund (1,137,075) 327,488 134,564 (675,023) 

     

Designated Fund     

- Childcare Fund 3,307,772 1,187,078 - 4,494,850 

- Project Fund 360,819 63 - 360,882 

- Family Therapy Institute Fund (68,358) (159,156) 85,246 (142,268) 

- Student Care Centre Fund (177,663) (245,049) 1,222 (421,490) 

- Training and Consultancy Fund (58,511) (81,931) 25,403 (115,039) 

 2,226,984 1,028,493 246,435 3,501,912 

Restricted funds     
- As-Salaam Family Support Centre 

Fund 1,779,562 246,653 10,713 2,036,928 

- Capital Grant Fund 111,794 5,900 - 117,694 

- Care and Share Grant* 233,292 525,481 (259,138) 499,635 

- Clients Assistance Fund 592,842 127,538 (26,561) 693,819 

- Family Service Centre Fund (East) 1,960,423 289,948 - 2,250,371 

- Family Service Centre Fund (West) 2,765,249 165,839 26,608 2,957,696 

- Inspirasi Fund 608,062 283,543 - 891,605 

- Vista Sakinah Fund 1,942,320 84,630 1,943 2,028,893 

 9,993,544 1,729,532 (246,435) 11,476,641 

     
TOTAL FUNDS 12,220,528 2,758,025 - 14,978,553 

 
 Transfer of fund 
 

*The transfer of funds from restricted fund, Care and Share Grant to unrestricted funds was a 
result of the following: 
 

  Association 

  2018  2017 
  S$  S$ 

Utilisation of Care and Share Grant for:     
Renovations   9,785  - 
Critical needs  110,000  5,251 

Expansion of current services  74,668  - 

Capability building  20,547  236,003 
New initiative programmes  14,908  17,884 

  229,908  259,138 

 
Utilisation of Clients Assistance Fund for distribution of zakat amounted to S$32,500 (2017: 
S$26,561). 
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13. Related party transactions 
 

i. Related party transactions 
 

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant transactions between the Association and its related parties took place 
during the year on terms agreed between the parties: 

 
 Group  Association 

 2018  2017  2018  2017 

 S$  S$  S$  S$ 
        

Subsidiary        
- Management fees -  -  422,875  600,845 
- Miscellaneous income -  -  6,687  1,422 
- Shareholder’s loan -  -  -  100,000 
- Payment made on behalf of 

Subsidiary -  - 
 

- 
 

12,056 
Other related party         

- Professional fees   63,722  68,146  -  - 

        
Other related party refers to the entity which is controlled by a party closely related to one 

member of the Association’s board of management. 
   

ii. Remuneration of key management personnel 

 
The key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Association. The key management 
personnel for the reporting period include the CEO, managers and key executives. 

 
The remuneration of key management personnel during the financial year is as follows: 
 
    Group and Association 

    2018  2017 
    S$  S$ 

       
Staff salaries & bonus    1,621,749  1,507,767 
Employer’s CPF contribution    242,499  228,027 

    1,864,248  1,735,794 

       
 
The remuneration band of the top three paid staff is as follows: 
    Group and Association 

    2018  2017 
    S$  S$ 
Remuneration band       
S$150,001 – S$200,000    1  - 
S$100,001 – S$150,000    2  3 

 
No Board of Management members received remuneration during the financial year. 
 
Among the three highest paid staff, all received remuneration exceeding S$100,000, who 

are the key management employees. 
 

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the Board of 
Management. 
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14. Management of conflict of interest 

 
There is no paid staff in the Group’s Board of Management. 

 
Board members are required to disclose any interest that they may have, whether directly or 
indirectly, that the Group may enter into or in any organisations that the Group has dealings with or 
is considering dealing with, and any personal interest accruing to him as one of the Group’s supplier, 
user of services or beneficiary.  Should there be any potential conflict of interest, the affected Board 

of Management member may not vote on the issue that was the subject matter of the disclosure.  
Detailed minutes will be taken on the disclosure as well as the basis for arriving at the final decision 

in relation to the issue at stake. 
 
 
15. Commitments 

 
Operating lease commitments 

 
At the reporting date, the Group and Association has commitments including office 
equipment, maintenance of building, IT services and future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases, among others, as follows: 

 

  Group and Association 

  2018  2017 
  S$  S$ 
     

Not later than one year  20,171  22,721 
Later than one year but not later than five years  17,093  37,264 

  37,264  59,985 

 

The operating lease commitments included above are based on known rates as at the date of 
this report and do not include any revision in rates which may be determined by the lessor. 

 
 

16. Financial instruments 
 

The financial assets and liabilities of the Group and Association as at the financial reporting date are as 

follows:  
 

 Group  Association 

 2018 2017  2018 2017 

 S$ S$  S$ S$ 

      

Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 14,497,574 13,195,491  14,168,905 12,593,253 
Fee and other receivables 
(excluding prepayment)  

 
1,147,538 

 
1,598,760 

  
1,193,721 

 
1,929,020 

 15,645,112 14,794,251  15,362,626 14,522,273 

      
Financial Liabilities      

Other payables (excluding GST 
payable, advance fee received and 
deferred income) 

 
 

1,432,563 

 
 

1,636,704 

  
 

1,390,979 

 
 

1,603,659 
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17. Financial risk management  
  

 The Group and the Association is exposed to liquidity, credit and market risks arising from its 
operations and the use of financial instruments. The Board of Management reviews and agrees on 
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below: 

 
(i) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Association will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.  The Association manages its liquidity risk by matching the 

payment and receipt cycle and maintaining a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance its on-going financial liabilities on a regular basis. 
 

The following table analyses the Group and the Association’s non-derivative financial liabilities 
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the reporting date to the 

contractual maturity date.   
 

 Group Association 
 S$ S$ 

Payable within one year   

2018   
Other payables 1,511,864 1,470,280 

   
2017   
Other payables 1,710,131 1,677,086 

   
 

(ii) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of debtors to settle its 
financial and contractual obligations to the Group and the Association, as and when they fall 
due. 
 

Fee receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging is as follows: 
   

   Group and Association 

     2018  2017 
     S$  S$ 

        

Not past due     31,508  - 

Past due 0 to 30 days     10,537  56,147 
Past due 31 to 60 days     2,923  - 

Past due over 61 days     37,650  - 

Carrying amount     82,618  56,147 
        

The Group and the Association have no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group and 

the Association have policies in place to ensure that transactions are entered into only with 
counter parties that are of acceptable credit quality. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the net carrying amount of financial 
assets recorded in the financial statements. 
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17. Financial risk management (Cont’d) 
 

(iii) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Group and the Association’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments.  

 
Foreign currency risk 
 

The Group and the Association have no exposure to foreign currency risk as its transactions, 
assets and liabilities are substantially denominated in Singapore Dollar. 
 

Interest rate risk 
 
The Group and Association’s exposure to changes in interest rates are primarily from bank 
balances with financial institutions. Any future variations in market interest rates will not have 
a material impact on the results of the Group and Association since interest on bank balances 
are not significant. The Group and Association do not have any interest-bearing financial 
liabilities.  

 
Fair values measurements   
 
Management considers that carrying values of current financial instruments approximate their fair 
values due to the short-term maturity of these instruments and the disclosures of fair value are not 

made when the carrying amount of current financial instruments is a reasonable approximation of the 
fair value. 

 
Fair value of investment property is disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.  
 
 

18. Reserve measurement 
 

The Group’s reserve measurement is calculated as follows: 
 

  2018  2017 
  S$’000  S$’000 

     
(a) Unrestricted funds  4,430  3,502 
(b) Restricted funds  13,290  11,477 

Total funds  17,720  14,979 

     

(a2) Annual expenditure under unrestricted funds  9,484  7,818 
(b2) Annual expenditure under restricted funds  6,234  5,764 
     
Ratio of unrestricted funds to annual expenditure (a/a2)  47%  45% 

     
Ration of restricted funds to annual expenditure (b/b2)  213%  199% 

 

The Group and Association do not have any externally imposed fund requirements.  
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